No. 73165-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS

HOVE ONE

## THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### **ERIC HOOD**

Appellant

v.

South Whidbey School District,

Respondent.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR ISLAND COUNTY

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

MICHAEL C. KAHRS, WSBA #27085 Attorney for Eric Hood 5215 Ballard Ave. NW, Ste. 2 Seattle, WA 98107 (206) 264-0643

####

#### I. INTRODUCTION

No matter how the South Whidbey School District ("District ") tries to spin the facts, its responses to Eric Hood's ("Hood") public records requests violated the Public Records Act ("PRA"). It improperly and mistakenly withheld thousands of records, then disclosed them only after Hood sued. Its failure to train its employees, unreasonable searches, and unmerited reliance upon flawed counsel resulted in continual violations of the PRA. By overlooking, ignoring or misunderstanding the District's violations, the trial court abused its discretion in grouping violations, granting penalties and awarding attorney fees.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in entering its Fact and Conclusions of Law ("FF&CL) on Cross-Motions for summary judgment dated December 15, 2014.
- The trial court erred in entering its order denying Hood's
   Motion for Reconsideration dated February 9, 2015.
- 3. The trial court erred in entering its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law ("AFFF&CL") and Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Attorney fees and Costs dated March 4, 2015.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court err when it ruled District's search for responsive records was reasonable? (Assignment of Error Number ("AE") 1; FF&CL ¶¶ 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, 35, and 53.)
- 2. Did the trial court err when it penalized the District only for untimely disclosures while ignoring other violations based upon statutes and case law which it characterized as merely "technical non-compliance?" (AE 1, FF&CL ¶¶ 43, 44, 46, 47, 66, and 74.)
- 3. Did the trial court err when it denied Hood's proposed groupings for penalties and subsumed all found violations into Groups 1 and 5? (AE 1; FF&CL ¶¶ 36, 38, 39, 40, 42, 45, and 71.)
- 4. Did the trial court err in applying mitigating and aggravating factors to its penalty calculations? (AE 1; FF&CL ¶¶ 24, 40, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 58, 59, 60, 61, 64, 65, 66, 68, 71 and 72.)
- 5. Did the trial court err in calculating the lengths of time of violations. (AE 1; FF&CL ¶¶ 67, 68, 69, 70, 71 and 72.)
- 6. Did the trial court err when it denied the Motion for Reconsideration which showed that the District's searches were unreasonable and the penalty period should have been extended to September 29, 2014? (AE 2.)

7. Did the trial court err when it denied Hood all of his requested attorney fees pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(6)? (AE 3; AFFF&CL ¶¶ 13 and 14.)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The District's unlawful responses to Hood's records requests are the basis of this lawsuit. Hood provides a chronology of his requests and the District's responses, followed by other relevant facts.

- 1. <u>Hood's June July, 2011 Requests</u>. Hood requested records about himself, his family and District programs.<sup>2</sup> On July 5, current Superintendent Josephine Moccia ("Moccia") ignored Hood's first and denied his second July 1 requests. CP 1079, CP 1000-1003. On July 7, Hood made more requests, CP 1006-1008. Moccia acknowledged them.
- Id. On July 10, Hood reminded Moccia that the District "may not destroy or erase" records, again requested metadata, responded to all requests for clarification, and made additional requests. CP 1009-1014. On July 12, Moccia promised "all associated metadata." CP 1015-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hood formerly taught with the District. After an arbitrator upheld the District's decision to non-renew him, he requested records related to his employment. He subsequently filed suit in federal court and made additional records requests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the interests of brevity, Hood refers this court to a spreadsheet labeled Appendix 1 attached to Plaintiff's summary judgment motion. CP 938-963. It verbatim shows Hood's July-August, 2011 requests (in red) and subsequent District responses (black).

On July 14, Hood requested additional records. CP 1024-1028. On July 20, Moccia provided some responsive records and renumbered Hood's requests. On July 28, Moccia stated that at least 1000 pages had been printed for review and possible redaction, and that she expected to generate "another 1000 or so pages," promised to disclose records by August 19, and charged fees because it had to "print them in order to determine what may or may not be released...." CP 1036-1037

On August 3, Hood inquired about his June 16, 2011 request (CP 995-999) to which he had been told to expect a July 29th response. CP 1038-1045. Moccia added that request to his others. *Id.* On August 16, Hood received a CD labeled "EH Docs Request CD 1 2011/08/15." CP 873, 878. Moccia promised more records on August 30. CP 1046-1048. Although Hood asked for a withholding log and again for metadata, Moccia's August 22 reply mentioned neither. *Id.* 

Hood obtained a CD of responsive records on August 31, labeled "E.Hood - Docs Prepared 2011/08/30." CP 873, 879. On September 5, Hood asked about missing documents listed as email attachments on the CD. CP 1049-1051. He and Moccia significantly disagreed that certain documents were on the CD. <sup>3</sup> Hood stated "for the record" that a document

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On September 6, Moccia stated that they were provided as separate documents, not as email links and Hood repeated that one of the documents was not on the CD. The next day, Moccia emailed the missing document to Hood.

was not on the CD. *Id.* Moccia promised a third installment on September 19 but did not provide an estimated date of final disclosure. CP 1046-1048 On September 19, Hood asked Sue Terhar, secretary to both past and current Superintendents ("Terhar"), if records were available for pickup. CP 874. She was not aware of any. CP 1052. On September 20 he picked up a CD of records titled "EH Documents 2011-09-19." CP 874, 880.

On October 14, Moccia provided Hood the purportedly final installment of records responsive to his June-July requests. CP 874, 881, 1053. She attached an exemption log that ostensibly listed all withheld documents. CP 1054-1064.

2. <u>November 1, 2011 Request.</u> On December 14, 2011, Moccia disclosed some records responsive to Hood's request for records and metadata, including records about the Washington State Auditor's Office ("SAO") audit of Bayview School. CP 1080-1083.

On December 16, 2011, Hood picked up a CD labeled "E.H. Docs 2011-12-16." CP 874, 881. On December 21, 2011 Moccia stated there were no records "regarding this supposed audit." CP 1087-1089. On January 2, 2012, Moccia provided the purportedly final responsive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A spreadsheet labeled Appendix 2 attached to Plaintiff's summary judgment motion tracks the District's responses to Hood's November 1, 2011 requests. CP 964-973.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Her denial came five months after she acknowledged an audit was taking place. CP 1090-1091. It was confirmed the same day by Rick Bonner of the SAO. CP 1092-1095.

records. CP 1096. Some previously undisclosed records provided on December 16, 2011 were responsive to Hood's July 14, 2011 request. CP 1316-1347; Responsive Document Worksheet ("RDW"), lines 5-15.

- 3. <u>June 19, 2012 Request.</u> On June 21, 2012, Moccia provided what she claimed were the only records responsive to Hood's request for records relevant to statements the SAO made to the District. CP1103-1105. No exemption log was provided. CP 874. Some previously undisclosed emails were responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests. CP 1288-1291; RDW 23-24.
- 4. The District's September 11, 2012 Supplemental Production. The District mailed Hood records to Hood on a CD titled "K&L GATES 9/11/12." CP 874, 882. An accompanying letter stated that records were "already produced" or "not responsive to your July requests." CP 1107. It provided a new exemption log. CP 1108-1118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The RDW lists descriptions and creation dates of documents that the District withheld or withholds, destroyed, or untimely provided.. By looking at the intersection of the listed document and the date(s) of Hood's request to the District, the reader can determine whether the document was responsive (Y) or not (N) to a particular request. For example, line 4 shows an email disclosed to Hood by the Arlington School District from McCarthy to Johnson. Its creation date of "3/1/11" shows it is responsive to item 8 of Hood's July 10, 2011 request, item 20 of his July 14, 2011 request, and item 1 of his November 1, 2011 request to the District. For another example, line 5 shows an email mentioning "audit" from Pfeiffer to Houck disclosed by the District on December 16, 2011. Since its creation date was "03/18/11," it was responsive to Hood's July 14, 2011 request item # 17 which asks for audit records. The RDW was labeled Appendix 3 and attached to Plaintiff's summary judgment motion. CP 974-993.

The federal court had determined that "all" the documents on the CD "came from eight binders that [former Superintendent Fred McCarthy ("McCarthy")] had created in the process of Hood's arbitration and later proceedings." CP 756. On June 15, 2011, McCarthy, who was replaced by Moccia July 1, 2011, had notified the District School Board, Terhar, District counsel Jennifer Divine and Moccia that he had placed the binders in the District's records storage vault "at the direction of" District counsel. CP 1510; RDW 103. The "supplemental production" included numerous documents responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests, CP 1371-1553. It included a revised October 14, 2011 exemption log. CP 1119-1133. It included a new exemption log (CP 1108-1118) for documents not previously identified or provided of which many were emails responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests. CP1108-1118 (log entry dates:12/18/09, 6/22/10 2:21, 6/23/10, 6/30/10, 7/6/10, 11/29/10, 1/5/11 7:51, 1/5/11 9:36, 6/11/11, 6/30/11, 7/19/11.)

The October 14, 2011 revised withholding log states that many records were "previously produced" although it does not state how or when, or "produced on 7/27/11 CD-ROM," though no evidence supports a production around that date. CP 1119-1133. Documents previously withheld and listed on the original October 14, 2011 exemption log per

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Hood sued the District in federal court in December of 2011

"deliberative process" were, on September 11, 2012 either disclosed or withheld, this time per "work-product" and/or "attorney-client privilege." (Compare original, CP 1054-1064 with revised log, CP 1119-1133.) Previously undisclosed emails that were responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests were disclosed or exempted and withheld. CP 1402, 1421-1423, 1437, 1441-1443, 1461, 1480, 1484, 1488-1491, 1500, 1505-1549; RDW 76-77, 79, 81, 89-94, 97, 101-125 (disclosed emails).

- 5. <u>September 11, 2012 Request.</u> On October 16, 2012, the District closed its search for records responsive to Hood's request for records and metadata relevant to the South Whidbey Education Association Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"). CP 1134-1135. He picked up a CD labeled "CBA REQUEST EH." CP 874, 883. On November 13, 2012, it disclosed additional responsive records. CP 1136. Some of them were previously undisclosed records responsive to Hood's prior requests. CP 1714-1720; RDW 266-68. Not all associated metadata was provided. *Id*.
- 6. October 4, 2012 Request. Records provided to Hood on September 11, 2012 indicated to him that the District had recovered the deleted personal records from the hard drive of his work computer. CP 874. Hood requested the recovered records on October 4, 2012. CP 1148.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Not one recovered record has ever been used against Hood as evidence of misconduct.

He was provided a thumb drive containing them accompanied by a letter dated October 9, 2012. CP 1149. Records on the thumb drive were responsive to Hood's July 10, 2011 request.

- 7. October 10, 2012 Request. Moccia promised, by October 30, 2012, all records responsive to Hood's follow-up request regarding the District's record destruction policies. CP 1150-1154. On November 29, 2012 after Hood reminded Moccia of the promised disclosure date, she admitted that the District inadvertently failed to respond to his October 10, 2012 request and disclosed responsive documents. *Id.*, CP 1754-1974; RDW 286-291.
- 8. October 16, 2012 Request. Moccia acknowledged Hood's request for records pertaining to an email, its attachment, and its associated metadata on October 23, 2012. CP 875, 1155-1160. On October 31, 2012, Moccia closed the request without providing any responsive records. *Id.* Her response confused Hood because a previously disclosed District record indicated the email had been sent to numerous persons or entities. CP 1437; RDW 79.

On November 3, 2012, Hood helped the District locate the relevant records. CP 1155-1160. That same day, Moccia asked Hood's further assistance. *Id.* On November 8, 2012, Hood provided a .pdf snapshot of the reference documents and pointed out that though he had already

referenced them, the District had not performed an adequate search. *Id.* Hood picked up some responsive records around November 28, 2012. CP 875. The District supplied final responsive documents on December 12, 2012. CP 1164-1165.One previously undisclosed records was responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests. CP 1976; RDW 292.

- 9. October 18, 2012 Request. On October 22, 2012, Moccia acknowledged Hood's request for records related to his arbitration hearing. CP 1171-1172. On November 27, 2012 Moccia directed Hood to come to the office and pay for copies of responsive records, though Hood had requested that the District "make records available, whenever possible, in electronic form via email." CP 1173. Moccia's December 12, 2012 closing email attached seven responsive .pdf files and again demanded payment for copies of 408 paper records. CP 1176-1177. Hood picked them up on or about December 18, 2012 along with an exemption log. CP 1178-1179. Many emails from these productions were responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests. CP 1994, 1996, 2102-2103; RDW 305, 309, 356-361. Previously undisclosed documents responsive to Hood's prior requests were listed on a December 13, 2012 exemption log. CP 1178-1179.
- 10. <u>November 15, 2012 Request</u>. On November 19, 2012 Moccia confirmed Hood's request for audit and attendance records, and

the next day provided a response date of December 21, 2012. CP 1180-1184. On December 19, 2012 Moccia disclosed records which Hood picked up around January 22, 2013. *Id.*; CP 875. Many records were responsive to Hood's July 14, and November 1, 2011 and June 19, 2012 requests. CP 874, 883, 2143-2198; RDW 384-409.

Hood proposed a compilation of record data in lieu of approximately 5,000 pages of attendance records. CP 1180-1192. After almost three months of no response, Hood re-contacted the District. Its counsel responded, "[t]he District is not amenable at this time to your proposal. If you wish to obtain copies of redacted attendance records, you will need to pay for them." *Id.* On March 22, 2013 Hood asked Moccia for the documents, and Terhar demanded payment for copies of each of the 656 responsive records that needed redaction. *Id.* The District disagreed with Hood's assertion that an agency may not charge to redact records for viewing, and instead directed Hood to pay to view an exemplar of the redacted records. *Id.* Although he believed he was entitled to view the exemplar without payment, Hood felt compelled to pay it. *Id.*; CP 875. He viewed remaining attendance records on April 5, 2013. CP 1185-1192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The trial court referred to the installment as a "redacted exemplar." FF&CL,¶ 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Their existence contradicts statements made by the District's former counsel who provided only a fraction of them: "You have been given all the student attendance records that they have. There are no other attendance records they have found." CP 1181.

- 11. <u>January 24, 2013 Request.</u> Hood requested documents prepared by UC eXpress that referenced him.<sup>11</sup> CP 1193-1194. The next day, Moccia provided him previously undisclosed records responsive to Hood's prior requests. CP 2200-2218; RDW 410-413.
- 12. <u>January 28, 2013 Request</u>. Hood found that some District documents referenced its insurer, the Washington Schools Risk Management Pool ("WSRMP"). CP 875. He requested "Any communications with this organization" that concerned him. CP 1195-1199. Three days later, Moccia stated it would search for records. *Id.* On February 14, 2013, Moccia stated:

Please note that the District has not and does not consider your October 18, 2012 request to encompass records prepared in response to any of your pending litigation against the District[...] that reference your non-renewal and/or arbitration proceeding.

- *Id.* She produced no exemption log or further records of communication with the WSRMP. CP 875.
- 13. The District's May 2, 2013 Production. On March 13, 2013, Hood made a Request for Productions to the District in federal court. CP 875. He viewed them around May 2, 2013 CP 876. A previously undisclosed record was responsive to Hood's prior requests. CP 2222; RDW 416.

<sup>11</sup> UC eXpress provides unemployment services.

14. January 30, 2014 Request. Based on issues raised during discovery during this action, Hood requested records related to his prior requests and Moccia provided an expected response date. CP 1203-1209. Hood followed up by requesting the "7/27/11" CD referenced in the September 11, 2012 revised withholding log and any related correspondence. Moccia replied that the District would provide Hood "another" purported copy of the CD that she identified as the "7 /27 /11 CD." Id. Around February 28, 2014 Hood picked up a CD titled "E.H. -Emails Set: 2011/07/27." CP 876, 884. It contained approximately 2000 separate records. CP 876. When Hood challenged the District about the records on the CD, its current counsel stated that prior counsel had purportedly provided him those records on August 16, 2011. Id. The District later admitted it had not previously provided the contents of that CD "in its entirety" to Hood. CP 2868. Many previously undisclosed records were responsive to Hood's July and November 2011 requests. 12 CP 2227-2438; RDW 419-456.

On March 14, 2014, Moccia confirmed that the final installment of records were available. CP 1202. It contains previously undisclosed, redacted attorney-District emails dated between July 1 and October 26,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Unredacted attorney- client emails with print dates of July 2011 make it clear that the District's prior attorneys collected these documents for review and then failed to timely provide them to Hood. CP 2435-2438; RDW 453-56.

2011 not shown on any exemption log. CP 2440-2596. One email shows that OSPI FedExed to the District a CD containing records of correspondence involving Hood. CP 2529. The District has not disclosed it to Hood.

- 15. <u>June 25, 2014 Request.</u> Hood clarified his request for records about his family on July 14, 2014. CP 65-66, 78-78. The District informed Hood the final installment was ready for pickup on September 24, 2014. CP 203. On September 29<sup>th</sup> Hood picked up records, some of which were responsive to either or both of Hood's July and November 2011 requests. CP 205-211. They were not previously disclosed to Hood or listed on any exemption log. Some documents were emails printed from the District's Google email system on August 29, 2014, but created during the summer of 2011, a time during which the District claims its Google email system systematically destroyed emails. *Id.*, (*see* footers).
- 16. <u>Hood's Public Records Requests to Other Agencies</u>. Other agencies disclosed records to Hood. The following table summarizes Hood's requests, agency responses, and responsive records they disclosed to Hood that the District has never disclosed to him.

Table 1

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