73165-3

73165-3

FILED October 8, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 73165-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Eric Hood,

Appellant,

v.

South Whidbey School District,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR ISLAND COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BAKER & McKENZIE LLP Laura K. Clinton, wsba #29846 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006 Telephone: (202) 452-7023 laura.clinton@bakermckenzie.com

Attorneys for Respondent South Whidbey School District

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

Hood proposed nine groupings of records to the trial court. His first group included all records responsive to his broad July 2011 requests that were not timely produced. FF 37. He proposed another reasonably distinct penalty group based upon his November 2011 requests (Group 5). FF 41. Both of these groups were accepted by the District and adopted by the court.¹⁶ FF 36. This was an appropriate exercise of discretion. *See, e.g., Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 863-65 (upholding daily penalty based upon grouping of records); *Yousoufian*, 152 Wn.3d at 427 (approving grouping by time of production and subject matter).

But then Hood asked the trial court to compound the penalty calculations by adopting multiple overlapping groups of records that were already addressed by these two groups. For example, Hood argued that he was entitled to an enhanced daily penalty for records that that were

¹⁶ Hood's argument that the trial court "abused it discretion when it refused to acknowledge that Hood's [Group 1] ... accounted for the District's" failure to provide all records responsive to the July requests, is peculiar, as the court accepted it. *Compare* FF 37 *with* Op. Br. 44-47; *see also* Op. Br. at 53-54 (arguing about Group 5, which was also accepted).

responsive to his July 2011 requests, but not produced until September 2012. Op. Br. at 47 (discussing Group 2). But Group 2 records were included in Group 1. *See* FF 38. Likewise, Hood's purported Groups 4, 6, and 7 consisted entirely of records for which Hood separately sought penalties under Group 1 (July 2011 requests) and Group 5 (November 2011 requests). Hood dedicates an inordinate amount of space to his allegations that some of the records produced in response to his later requests were *also* responsive to his earlier requests. Op. Br. at 20-36. But the District acknowledged from the beginning that some responsive records were not located by its searches in response to Hood's requests. FF 62. The trial court found Hood's arguments for separate -- and punitive -- treatment of these records unpersuasive, and that decision was not manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *See Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d at 46-47.

Likewise, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Hood's request for more than \$21,000.00 for some attorney-client privileged and work product protected documents that were initially identified as exempt under the deliberative process exemption and later produced to him without waiver of their exemptions. *See Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 847-48 (production of exempt documents to a requestor does not waive exemptions). Hood claimed that either the production, or the revision of the exemption claim warranted sanctions, but this is not the law: "the appropriate inquiry is whether the records are exempt from disclosure. *If they are exempt, the agency's withholding of them was lawful and its subsequent production of them irrelevant.*" *Id.* at 849-50 (emphasis supplied); *Cowles Publishing Co. v. City of Spokane*, 69 Wn.App. 678, 683 (1993); *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 252 (university could argue any exemption supported by record regardless of whether previously asserted); *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 847-48 (same).

Before this Court,¹⁷ Hood now asserts that the trial court misunderstood his arguments and looked at the wrong records. Op. Br. 50-51. To the contrary, it is Hood who misstates the record. *Compare* CP 2865-66; CP 3051 at ¶¶ 3-5 (explaining that "deliberative process" documents were exempt under the attorney client and work product doctrines but were released to Hood when exemption logs were updated because counsel believed that they had already been produced), *with* Op. Br. at 23, 50-1 (misstating testimony). Further, these materials were cataloged by the District in an appendix to its response papers (CP 811-

¹⁷ Hood did not object to FF 46 & 47, concerning the student attendance records, as they were proposed to the trial court. *See* CP ____(Sub 136). A party who objects to some, but not all, of a trial court's proposed findings may be found to have conceded or acquiesced to the findings to which he did not object. *State v. Vaughn*, 83 Wn. App. 669, 676-77, 924 P.2d 27 (1996) (finding that a criminal defendant had conceded certain facts due, at least in part, to the fact that he did not object to proposed findings).

66). Of the 26 records at issue, 21 were on their face exempt work product materials and attorney-client communications, and the remaining 5 were undisputedly *not responsive to Hood's requests*. CP 3051; *compare* Op. Br. at 51 (selectively quoting District's prior briefing to suggest that it admitted withholding violations with regard to these 5 documents). Hood now faults the court for not further examining the District's work product claims as to ten of these documents, Op. Br. at 50, while simultaneously acknowledging that the court found them exempt, *id.* at 51 (the court "erroneously found that they were properly exempted …") and confirming that the District had every reason to anticipate litigation from Hood, *id.* at 22, n.18. None of this suggests an abuse of discretion.

In his Group 4, Hood sought the statutory maximum for documents that were released to him by other agencies, which he speculated the District must be silently withholding from him. Op. Br. at 24. The court did not "fail to understand" that Hood believed these records from other agencies were responsive to his requests of the District, nor did the court abuse its discretion in failing to credit Hood's accusations that the District actually had such records in its possession and was refusing to produce them. *See also* CP 3051; 810; *accord, Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 737-38 (requester does not raise a material factual issue about the reasonableness of a search by identifying other documents that are

internally referenced in the documents released) (Madsen, C.J., concurring). Likewise, Hood's arguments that his requests concerned matters of public importance (Group 6) were refuted by the record. *See* CP 421 at ¶ 11; CP 425 at ¶¶ 21-22; CP 719 at ¶ 7 (Hood initiated SAO "audit"). To the extent they had any merit, they were addressed in the penalties awarded on Groups 1 and 5. *See* FF 42.

Regarding Group 7, Hood claimed the court abused its discretion in failing to "provide any penalties" for metadata. Op. Br. 57. To the contrary, the court declined to accept a separate grouping for metadata, as it found that the District had largely complied with the request and that the awarded penalties were sufficient to address any violation. FF 44, 66, 68. In Group 8, Hood sought heightened penalties for records that were inadvertently not disclosed until February 26, 2014 on a 7/27/2011 CD-ROM. The record was clear that the District did not intentionally deny Hood access to these records and that most of them had already been produced to him in other forms. CP 2865-67; CP 2797.

Finally, in Group 9, Hood sought penalties for a host of miscellaneous alleged violations. Chief among them was Hood's agreement to pay \$11 for an installment of 74 pages of redacted student records. *See supra* at 13-14 (detailing evidence on this issue). Hood's insistence that he was forced to pay to inspect the records (Op. Br. 11, 32-

42

33) misstates the evidence, and the court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant penalties for this group of records.¹⁸

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by considering all relevant aggravating and mitigating factors.

Relying on *Yousoufian*, Hood claimed that several aggravating factors were present. The trial court, after considering all the evidence, found the District's searches reasonable, that Hood's requests did not concern matters of public importance, and that his arguments about economic loss were frivolous. FF 28, 35, 55-59. The trial court appropriately reviewed the other asserted factors.

Training: The District acknowledged that at the time of hearing it did not have a formal PRA training program. FF 50. Hood began his request campaign just as Dr. Moccia, the new Superintendent with no prior experience in Washington or with its PRA, assumed her responsibilities. CP 2811-12 ¶¶ 15-17. Confronted with a requestor with a history of litigation against the District, and with no personal experience with either him or the PRA, Moccia requested the assistance of outside legal counsel. CP 2812 ¶ 17. As the trial court found, this was not an abdication of her responsibilities. *See Lindberg v. Kitsap County*, 133

¹⁸ A review of CP 872, an example of one such redacted attendance record, suggests that Hood had good reason for not requesting further installments – after proper redaction, the record's content is virtually nil.

Wn.2d 729, 746-47 (1997) (total PRA penalty of \$507, based in part upon agency's good faith reliance on erroneous legal advice); *West v. Thurston County*, 168 Wn. App. 162, 190 (2012) (agency's reliance on attorney is mitigating factor). Hood's allegation that Moccia did not oversee the process is contrary to her testimony and has no apparent basis. CP 2812-13; CP 418-420. In any event, the trial court found that lack of training was an aggravating factor and increased penalties accordingly. FF 52.

Good Faith: When determining a penalty, "the existence or absence of [an] agency's bad faith is the principal factor" that a trial court should consider. *Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 37-38 (1997) (quoting *Yacobellis v. City of Bellingham*, 64 Wn.App. 295, 303 (1992)) (alteration in original). Hood admitted there was no evidence of District dishonesty, CP 912, and the trial court found that there was no evidence of District negligence, recklessness, wanton conduct, bad faith, or intentional noncompliance. FF 54; *compare* CP 2799 at ¶ 10, 19 (Miller); CP 2820 at ¶ 47 (Moccia); CP 728 at ¶ 13 (Atkins); CP 722 at ¶ 16 (Poolman), *with, e.g., Francis*, 313 P.3d at 468 (DOC spent no more than 15 minutes on request and did not check any usual record storage locations).

Despite this, and without a scintilla of evidence in support, Hood repeatedly implied that the District had destroyed or was silently withholding records in bad faith. But the District had no motive to hide records from Hood, and even he admitted that the documents he thought would contain evidence of nefarious intent were completely innocuous. FF 57. *Compare Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 721-22 (agency search was limited to single new computer: "the only place a complete electronic record could not be found"); *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 268-69 (stated refusal to comply with PRA requests suggested that documents may have been silently withheld); *ACLU v. Blaine Sch. Dist.*, 95 Wn. App. 106, 112-13, 975 P.2d 536 (1999) (defendant refused to copy and mail requested records for "improper reasons"). Hood offered his own self-serving speculation that the District was negligent, but this was woefully inadequate. *Frederick S. Wyle Prof. Corp.*, 764 F.2d at 612 ("[B]ald assertions, absent any evidentiary base, are insufficient …"). The court found that the "record as a whole shows that the District did, in fact, act in good faith at all times, [and] was not negligent." FF 54.

Clarity of requests: The trial court found that a lack of clarity in the PRA requests and their sheer volume was a mitigating factor in the District's favor. FF 60. Incredibly, Hood now faults the District for failing to complain that his requests were harassing. Op. Br. at 45. Similarly, the court found that the District's reasonably prompt responses to the majority of Hood's requests and its good faith efforts to comply with the PRA, were mitigating considerations. FF 61.

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in adopting a daily penalty and calculating the award.

Hood claims that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to award him the \$75-\$100 a day he requested for the belated production of various records. Op. Br. at 60. The PRA, which was amended after *Yousoufian* to eliminate mandatory penalties, grants complete discretion to trial courts to award any amount up to \$100 a day (or less than \$1 a day, or nothing) for violations. RCW 42.56.550(4). The trial court's decision to apply a \$5 per day penalty was well within this statutory grant.

Further, the trial court's \$5 a day penalty is also within the range of awards approved in other cases, even under the prior mandatory penalty provision. For example, in *Lindberg*, the Supreme Court found that a total PRA penalty of \$507 for more than 200 days that multiple records were *intentionally* withheld was well within the trial court's discretion, even under the mandatory minimums. 133 Wn.2d at 747 (court of appeals erred in remanding to trial court for recalculation of penalty where there was no evidence that trial court abused discretion in setting original penalty; total award of \$1100, which included costs, reasonable attorney fees, and "some" penalties was "reasonable under the circumstances"). In *Sanders*, the Supreme Court approved the application of the *statutory minimum* \$5 per day with a \$3 enhancement against the Attorney General's Office

where the agency acted in good faith but wrongfully withheld various documents that were not exempt.¹⁹ 169 Wn.2d at 860-61. As "the penalty needed to deter a small school district and that necessary to deter a large county many not be the same," the trial court's exercise of discretion here was not arbitrary. *Yousoufian*, 168 Wn. 2d at 467-68 and 463.

In *ACLU v. Blaine Sch. Dist.*, the Court of Appeals found "startling evidence of the District's improper motives" in responding to the ACLU's requests. 95 Wn.App. 106, 113 (1999). Finding that the district did not act in good faith, the court imposed a PRA penalty of \$10 per day -- only \$5 more than the minimum penalty then required. *See also Francis*, 313 P.3d at 469 (affirming penalty award of less than \$5,000 against DOC where agency acted in *bad faith* and spent less than 15 minutes on request). The penalty amount the trial court awarded should be affirmed.

D. Hood Fails to Address the Denial of His Motion for Reconsideration and Thus Has Waived Review of That Order.

Hood assigns error to the trial court's denial of reconsideration, but fails to present any argument in his brief as to that ruling. He has thus waived review by this Court. "This court generally does 'not engage in conjectural resolution of issues presented, but not briefed." *In re F.D.*

¹⁹ Notably, the AGO is a much larger public agency than the District and charged with the interpretation and enforcement of the Act itself. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 42.56.530 (agency denials of public record requests reviewable by the attorney general).

Processing, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452, 456, 832 P.2d 1303 (1992) (quoting *John Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 785, 819 P.2d 370 (1991)) ("sweeping assignments of error" not considered by court of appeals where not supported by argument in brief); *State v. Dennison*, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990) (court will not ordinary review issues not briefed by parties). In any event, the trial court's denial of reconsideration was clearly supported by the record before it, as detailed in the court's memorandum decision. CP 49-61; *see also* CP 137-158.

E. The Trial Court's Fee Award Was Appropriate.

Hood challenges, as an abuse of discretion, the trial court's award of half his invoiced attorneys fees for the relevant time period. Op Br. 61. In so doing, Hood completely ignores the fact that a 50% award was exactly what he requested:

This was a complex case involving many requests and documents. According to this Court's judgment, *Mr. Hood prevailed on approximately 50% of his claims* although he did not get the penalties he sought.

Reviewing the relevant factors one by one in the case requires this Court find *the percentage of the fees* and costs requested reasonable.

CP 132, 135; see also CP 133 n. 2 (inviting comparison with award of

37.5% of invoiced fees in Sanders).

Before this Court, Hood now asserts that he prevailed on every

claim, and is thus entitled to 100% of his requested fees. Op. Br. at 63. This is simply wrong. *Compare* CP 45 at ¶ 14 (Hood only prevailed on limited claims); *see also* CP ___ (Sub 124) (no basis for claims that documents were improperly redacted). This change in position alone should preclude his argument here. *See, e.g, Garrett v. Morgan,* 127 Wn. App. 375, 112 P.3d 531 (2005) (judicial estoppel prevents party from asserting different position from one offered and accepted by court); *In re Pers. Restraint of Tortorelli,* 149 Wn.2d 82, 94, 66 P.3d 606, *cert. denied,* 540 U.S. 875 (2003) (invited error doctrine "prohibits a party from setting up an error in the trial court then complaining of it on appeal.").

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